IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NUVEDA, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

JENNIFER GOLDSTEIN,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case Neizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

District Court Case No: A-15-728510-B

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable ELIZABETH GONZALEZ, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-15-728510-B

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JASON M. WILEY
Nevada Bar No. 9274
E. DANIEL KIDD
Nevada Bar No. 10106
WILEY PETERSEN
1050 Indigo Drive, Suite 200B
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702.910.3329

Attorneys for Appellant NuVeda, LLC

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENTiv
ROUTING STATEMENT iv
ISSUE PRESENTED iv
I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
II. STATEMENT OF FACTS
A. NuVeda's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award
B. Goldstein's Motion to Extend Deadlines4
III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT6
IV. ARGUMENT8
A. Standard of Review8
B. Goldstein Failed to Timely Oppose the Motion to Vacate, and Thus,
the Arbitration Award Should Have Been Vacated Forthwith by the District
Court. 8
C. Goldstein's Motion to Extend Was Procedurally Flawed and Should
Have Been Denied10
1. ECDR 2.22(d) Governs Continuance of a Matter10
2. Goldstein Erroneously Relied on EDCR 2.22(d) in Support of its
Argument that the Deadline to Respond to NuVeda's Motion to Vacate
Should be Extended
3. EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6 Govern Extension of Time11
4. Goldstein's Motion to Extend Does Not Cite the Authorities

Necessary to Support an Extension of Time
D. The District Court Erred in Granting Goldstein's Motion to Extend
Because Excusable Neglect Cannot Be Established
V. CONLCUSION15
VI. CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE15
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Cases
Foster v. Dingwall, 126 Nev. 56, 62, 227 P.3d 1042, 1046 (2010)
Mosely v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 124 Nev. 654, 667-68, 188 P.3d 1136, 1145-46 (2008) . 14
Phillips A.C. v. Central Council (In re Phillip A.C), 122 Nev. 1284, 149 P.3d 51 (2006)
Sylver v. Regents Bank, N.A., 129 Nev. 282, 286, 300 P.3d 718, 721 (2013)
Tore, Ltd. v. Church, 5 Nev. 449, 451, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (1985)
Rules
EDCR 2.209
EDCR 2.22
EDCR 2.25
NRCP 6

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1), which provides for jurisdiction over final judgments. Written notice of entry of the district court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order: (1) Granting Plaintiff Jennifer M. Goldstein's Motion to Continue Hearing on NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and to Extend Briefing Deadlines; (2) Denying Defendant NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award; and (3) Confirming the Arbitration Award was served on September 9, 2019. Appellant NuVeda, LLC ("NuVeda") timely appealed from this final order on October 9, 2019.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), Appellant states that this case originates in business court. Therefore, pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9), the Supreme Court shall hear and decide this case.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the District Court err in granting Respondent's motion to extend briefing deadlines where Respondent failed to timely provide points and authorities in support of the motion as required by applicable court rule and where the Respondent failed to establish excusable neglect?

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting Respondent Jennifer Goldstein's ("Goldstein") motion to extend briefing deadlines as said deadline related to NuVeda's motion to vacate arbitration award. Goldstein was a former member of NuVeda who commenced action against the company regarding Goldstein's separation from NuVeda, among other allegations. At the final hearing in an arbitration proceeding governed by the American Arbitration Association and its rules, the sole issue for determination was the value of Goldstein's ownership interest in NuVeda at the time she was expelled from the company. Less than one month before the arbitration hearing, Goldstein disclosed an initial expert report. The disclosure was late according the Arbitrator's operative scheduling order, and therefore, NuVeda submitted a motion to strike the expert report. The Arbitrator ultimately denied the motion, and the arbitration hearing was conducted allowing the testimony of Goldstein's expert. The Arbitrator issued a final award in favor of Goldstein which relied upon the expert report at issue in the motion to strike.¹

As such, on June 18, 2019, NuVeda filed a motion to vacate arbitration award with the District Court based on the Arbitrator's erroneous decision to allow the expert testimony and the Arbitrator's manifest disregard for both the law and

¹ These facts are set forth in *NuVeda*, *LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award* (JA 00882-00890).

scheduling order. Goldstein failed to timely oppose the motion to vacate. Eventually, Goldstein filed a motion to continue the hearing date and motion to extend the briefing deadlines, but said motion failed to provide any points and authorities in support of Goldstein's motion to extend and failed to establish excusable neglect, which is required pursuant to local rule. Before the hearing, Goldstein filed a rogue opposition to the motion to vacate, nearly one month after it was originally due. The District Court – without entertaining argument regarding the applicable standard or timeliness of the motion – granted Goldstein's motion to extend briefing deadlines, and subsequently denied NuVeda's motion to vacate the arbitration award leading to the confirmation of the arbitration award.

NuVeda now brings the instant appeal seeking review of the District Court's decision and requests that the rules of procedure be duly enforced. There is a history of Goldstein blatantly disregarding the operative deadlines in this adversary proceeding, with the most recent violation being the issue on appeal - Goldstein did not timely oppose the motion vacate and then filed a defective motion to extend. As set forth herein, the District Court failed to apply the appropriate standard to Goldstein's motion to extend and Goldstein failed to show excusable neglect for filing an untimely motion to extend as required by EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6. The District Court should have denied the motion to extend, which mandates that the motion to vacate be granted, or at minimum, that the rogue opposition be stricken.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. NuVeda's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award

On June 17, 2019 – <u>and within the statutorily prescribed time within which to</u> <u>file a motion to vacate an arbitration award</u> – Appellant filed NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award ("Motion to Vacate"). (JA 00880-01461). The Motion to Vacate was based on the Arbitrator's erroneous decision to allow a certain expert's testimony, which manifestly disregarded both the law and scheduling order (JA 00891-00901).

On June 19, 2019, Goldstein's newly retained counsel, Brian Irvine, Esq., participated in a telephone conference with NuVeda's counsel, Jason Wiley, Esq., wherein Mr. Irvine requested an extension for Goldstein to oppose the Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award. (JA 01508-01509 ¶7). During said conference, NuVeda's counsel indicated that he did not have authority to grant the request without receiving consent from NuVeda. (JA 01508-01509 ¶8). Later on June 19, 2019, NuVeda's counsel sent email correspondence to Goldstein's counsel providing that NuVeda was amenable to the extension provided that the accrual of interest was "suspended during the period [counsel needed] to get up to speed, file the response, and [conduct] the hearing on the motion to vacate." (JA 01462).

On June 28, 2019, (and for purposes relevant hereto, after an opposition to NuVeda's Motion to Vacate was due) Goldstein's counsel sent NuVeda's counsel

correspondence stating that Goldstein was "not willing to suspend the accrual of interest" unless NuVeda deposited the full amount of the judgment into an escrow account pending disposition of the motion to vacate." (JA 01466).

B. Goldstein's Motion to Extend Deadlines

On July 1, 2019 (after the date within which to oppose NuVeda's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award pursuant to EDCR 2.20), Goldstein filed a Motion to Continue Hearing on NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and to Extend Briefing Deadlines [First Requested Extension] ("Motion to Extend"). (JA 01467-01479). The Motion to Extend relies exclusively on EDCR 2.22(d) as the lone points and authorities in asserting that a Court may continue a hearing "upon a showing by motion supported by affidavit or oral testimony that such continuance is in good faith, reasonably necessary and is not sought merely for delay." (JA 01468). The Motion to Extend further alleges – incorrectly – "[i]n this case, Goldstein has met all three requirements for continuing the July 19, 2019, hearing and extending the briefing deadlines." (JA01468). Goldstein also asserted – incorrectly – that "the requested continuance and extension of time will [not] have an adverse or prejudicial effect on the interests of any party to this action." (JA01469).

On July 11, 2019, NuVeda filed its Opposition to Motion to Continue Hearing on NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and to Extend Briefing Deadlines and Notice of No Opposition to Its Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award

("Opposition to Motion to Extend") (JA 01483-01507). NuVeda's Opposition to Motion to Extend asserted that that Goldstein's Motion to Extend is fatally flawed in that it (a) solely relied on EDCR 2.22 which relates to the continuation of hearings as the lone points and authorities in support of Goldstein's request to extend the deadline dates within which to oppose the motion to vacate; (b) does not cite any points and authorities in support of its petition to extend the briefing schedule; and (c) provides analysis under a "good faith" standard when applicable court rules require the demonstration of excusable neglect. (JA 01488-01492).

On July 16, 2019, Goldstein filed a *Reply in Support of Motion to Continue Hearing on NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and to Extend Briefing Deadlines* ("Reply") (JA 01510-01530). In the Reply, Goldstein acknowledges "excusable neglect" is the correct standard in petitioning a court for an extension of deadlines once said deadlines have passed and provides legal argument on the same. (JA 01515-01516). The Reply further admits that Goldstein failed to adhere to applicable court rules but argues that there was a reasonable basis for the actions due to a failure of confluence between local rules and the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. (JA 01516-01517).

On July 25, 2019, *Plaintiff Jennifer M. Goldstein's Opposition to NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award* ("Opposition to Motion to Vacate") was filed by Goldstein. (JA 01539-JA02330).

On August 12, 2019, the District Court conducted a hearing on Goldstein's Motion to Extend. (JA 02345-02363). During said hearing, the Court granted the Motion to Extend without entertaining argument from the parties. (JA 02346-02347). Specifically, the District Court determined that Goldstein's counsel was unaware of the applicable rules and suspension of the some of the Eighth District Court Rules because he practices "up north." (JA 02346). However, in so doing, the District Court did not rule – or mention whatsoever – Goldstein's failure to provide any points and authorities in support of the request to extend deadlines as provided in the Motion to Extend (JA 02346-02347).

On September 9, 2019, the District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order: (1) Granting Plaintiff Jennifer M. Goldstein's Motion to Continue Hearing on NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and to Extend Briefing Deadlines; (2) Denying Defendant NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award; and (3) Confirming the Arbitration Award and notice of entry thereof were filed. (JA 02364-02373).

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since the arbitration proceeding, Goldstein has continually neglected to comply with the operative scheduling orders to the detriment of NuVeda. First, Goldstein blatantly failed to timely disclose an expert report in the arbitration proceeding, yet the Arbitrator erroneously allowed the expert to provide testimony

at the hearing. The Arbitrator's failure to hold Goldstein accountable for the expert disclosure deadline led to NuVeda filing the Motion to Vacate in the District Court. Then, for a second time, Goldstein failed to abide by an imposed scheduling deadline. Goldstein failed to timely file an opposition to the Motion to Vacate within 10 days as required by EDCR 2.20. This failure to oppose should have resulted in the Motion to Vacate being granted pursuant to the same rule.

Ultimately, Goldstein filed an untimely Motion to Extend, relying exclusively on EDCR 2.22(d) as the basis to continue the hearing and allow further time to oppose the Motion to Vacate. However, the Motion to Extend provided incorrect analysis in requesting an extension of time after the deadline to act had passed. EDCR 2.25(a) and NRCP 6(b)(ii) explicitly require that the moving party establish *excusable neglect* for failing to act before a deadline. Excusable neglect was never discussed in the Motion to Extend, nor were EDCR 2.25(a) and NRCP 6(b)(ii) even mentioned. Thus, there were no points and authorities before the District Court that supported an extension of time.

NuVeda filed an Opposition to the Motion to Extend, and eventually, Goldstein filed an Opposition to the Motion to Vacate nearly one month after it was originally due. At the hearing on the matter, the District Court – without entertaining argument on the aforementioned issues regarding the timing of the opposition and appropriate standard – granted Goldstein's motion to extend briefing deadlines, and

subsequently denied NuVeda's Motion to Vacate the arbitration award leading to the confirmation of the arbitration award.

NuVeda now brings this appeal seeking an order requiring that rules of procedure and applicable standard related to extension of time be duly enforced. The District Court's decision should be vacated because the District Court failed to apply EDCR 2.20 to the Motion to Vacate and the appropriate standard to Goldstein's Motion to Extend and because Goldstein cannot establish excusable neglect for filing an untimely Motion to Extend as required by EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's confirmation of an arbitration award *de novo*. *Sylver v. Regents Bank, N.A.*, 129 Nev. 282, 286, 300 P.3d 718, 721 (2013). This Court reviews lower courts' conclusions of law under a *de novo* standard of review. *Phillips A.C. v. Central Council (In re Phillip A.C)*, 122 Nev. 1284, 149 P.3d 51 (2006); *Tore, Ltd. v. Church*, 5 Nev. 449, 451, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (1985).

B. Goldstein Failed to Timely Oppose the Motion to Vacate, and Thus, the Arbitration Award Should Have Been Vacated Forthwith by the District Court.

At the time the Motion to Vacate was filed, EDCR 2.20(e) provided the following:

Within 10 days after the service of the motion, and 5 days after service of any joinder to the motion, the opposing party must serve and file

written notice of nonopposition or **opposition thereto**, **together with a memorandum of points and authorities and supporting affidavits**, if any, stating facts showing why the motion and/or joinder should be denied. Failure of the opposing party to serve and file written opposition may be construed as an admission that the motion and/or joinder is meritorious and a consent to granting the same. *See* EDCR 2.20(e).2

The Motion to Vacate was filed on June 17, 2019. (JA 00880-01461) Therefore, according to the plain language of the aforementioned rule, Respondent had until June 27, 2019 to file an opposition. No opposition was filed by that date. Therefore, the Motion to Vacate should have been granted by the Court. It is well established that failure to timely oppose a motion is grounds to grant the pending motion. *See Foster v. Dingwall*, 126 Nev. 56, 62, 227 P.3d 1042, 1046 (2010).

Furthermore, the untimely Opposition to Motion to Vacate filed by Respondent on July 25, 2019 should have been stricken. (JA 01539-02320). EDCR 2.20(e) clearly requires that opposing points and authorities must be filed within 10 days of the filing of the motion. There was no order extending the briefing schedule entered at the time the tardy opposition was filed. Nor was any order entered prior to the hearing on the Motion to Vacate.³ Therefore, at minimum, the District Court

² EDCR 2.20 was amended on January 1, 2020 and now allows 14 days to oppose a motion.

³ Moreover, Respondent did not include the appropriate points and authorities in the Motion to Extend showing excusable neglect which is required in order to justify a tardy petition for extension. *See infra*. Therefore, there was no basis to extend the opposition deadline.

should have stricken the opposition and refrained from considering the arguments set forth therein.

C. Goldstein's Motion to Extend Was Procedurally Flawed and Should Have Been Denied

1. ECDR 2.22(d) Governs Continuance of a Matter

EDCR 2.22(d) provides:

When it appears to the court that a written <u>notice of motion</u> has been given, the court may not, unless the other business of the court requires such action, <u>continue the matter specified in the notice</u> except as provided in this rule or upon a showing by motion supported by affidavit or oral testimony that such continuance is in good faith, reasonably necessary and is not sought merely for delay. (emphasis added).

2. Goldstein Erroneously Relied on EDCR 2.22(d) in Support of its Argument that the Deadline to Respond to NuVeda's Motion to Vacate Should be Extended

Goldstein's Motion to Extend contains the simplistic argument that (a) EDCR 2.22(d) provides that a *hearing* may be continued upon a showing by motion that such continuance is in good faith, reasonably necessary and is not sought merely for delay; and (b) since Goldstein can purportedly satisfy these elements, that continuing the hearing on NuVeda's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award *and* extending the briefing deadlines is warranted. (JA 01468).

In so asserting, Goldstein relies solely upon EDCR 2.22(d) in support of her position to extend the briefing deadlines. (JA 01468). This is clear error. Examination of that rule and subsection clearly and unequivocally provides that

EDCR 2.22(d) applies solely to the continuance of a hearing on a motion and has no applicability whatsoever to the extension of time within which to oppose a motion. Consequently, Respondent's Motion to Extend did not provide grounds or authority to alter the briefing deadlines.⁴ Therefore, the Motion to Extend should have been denied, and thus the Opposition to Motion to Vacate filed by Goldstein was a rogue document that should have been stricken by the Court.

3. EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6 Govern Extension of Time

EDCR 2.25(a) provides, in pertinent part:

Every motion or stipulation to extend time shall inform the court of any previous extensions granted and state the reasons for the extension requested. A request for extension made after the expiration of the specified period shall not be granted unless the moving party, attorney, or other person demonstrates that the failure to act was the result of excusable neglect. (emphasis added).

Similarly, NRCP 6(b)(ii) provides:

When an act may or must be done within a specified time, <u>the Court may, for good cause, extend the time on motion made after the time has expired if the party failed to act because of excusable neglect</u>. (emphasis added).

Based on the plain language of these rules, excusable neglect as to the failure to act must be established in order to extend a deadline that has already expired.

⁴ EDCR 2.20(c) requires that a motion include a memorandum of points and authorities in support of each ground thereof.

Particularly, EDCR 2.25 provides that a motion to extend "shall not be granted" unless the excusable neglect is established.

4. Goldstein's Motion to Extend Does Not Cite the Authorities Necessary to Support an Extension of Time

Though titled "Motion to Continue Hearing on NuVeda, LLC's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and to Extend Briefing Deadlines," Goldstein provides no authorities to extend the briefing scheduled and/or time to oppose NuVeda's Motion to Vacate in her moving papers. (JA 01467-01479). EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6 govern extensions of time. Both rules clearly and unambiguously provide that requests to extend time lodged with the Court <u>after</u> the expiration of the specified period shall not be granted unless the moving party demonstrates that the failure to act was the result of excusable neglect.

Goldstein's Motion to Extend (a) does not cite EDCR 2.25 or NRCP 6; (b) does not provide argument that her failure to oppose NuVeda's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award was the product of excusable neglect; or (c) does not even use the phrase "excusable neglect." (JA 01467-01479). As such, Goldstein failed to satisfy the requirements of either the local rule or the Nevada rule to extend the time within which to oppose NuVeda's motion.

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