IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed NUVEDA, LLC,

SUPREME COURT MOR 1980020 04:30 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

Appellant,

District Court Case No.C. Supreme Court

v. RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JENNIFER GOLDSTEIN,

Respondent.

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable ELIZABETH GONZALEZ, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-15-728510-B

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC
BRIAN R. IRVINE
Nevada Bar No. 7758
BROOKS T. WESTERGARD
Nevada Bar No. 14300
100 W. Liberty Street, Suite 940
Reno, Nevada 89501
Tel: (775) 343-7500

Fax: (844) 670-6009

Attorneys for Plaintiff Jennifer M. Goldstein

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

and file written opposition may be construed as an admission that the motion and/or joinder is meritorious and a consent to granting the same.

AOB at 8-9 (citing EDCR 2.20(e)). Thus, according to NuVeda, under the plain language of EDCR 2.20(e), the Opposition to the Motion to Vacate should have been stricken and the Motion to Vacate should have been granted. AOB at 9. However, NuVeda's argument is unpersuasive and is contrary to this Court's case law.

In *Eberle v. State ex rel. Nell J. Redfield Tr.*, appellants contended that respondents' request for extraordinary expert witness fees and costs below was filed beyond the time prescribed under NRS 18.110(1). 108 Nev. 587, 589, 836 P.2d 67, 69 (1992). Thus, appellants argued that the district court should have denied the fee motion as untimely. *Id.* This Court disagreed.

Specifically, this Court explained that "NRS 18.110(1) provides that a memorandum of costs must be filed by the prevailing party within five days after the entry of judgment or within 'such further time as the court or judge may grant." *Id.* at 590, 836 P.2d at 69. This Court determined that "[a]lthough no further time for filing a motion for costs was specifically granted by the district court, by granting the motion for expert witness fees and costs, the district court either considered the motion to be timely, or impliedly granted respondents additional time within which to move for expert witness fees and costs." *Id.* Thus, this Court held that "[i]n either

case, the district court's exercise of discretion to reach the merits of the motion w[ould] not be disturbed on appeal." *Id*.

Here, as with the appellants in *Eberle*, NuVeda ignores that a district court's decision to consider an untimely motion is discretionary. Indeed, pursuant to EDCR 2.20(e), "[f]ailure of the opposing party to serve and file written opposition may be construed as an admission that the motion and/or joinder is meritorious and a consent to granting the same." (emphasis added). Moreover, unlike *Eberle*, this Court does not have to guess as to whether the District Court "impliedly granted [Goldstein] additional time" to oppose the Motion to Vacate. *Eberle* at 590, 836 P.2d at 69. To the contrary, the District Court's Order explicitly provides that "Goldstein ha[d] demonstrated excusable neglect in failing to file the Motion to Continue or the Motion to Vacate prior to the expiration of the deadline established by EDCR 2.20(e), and [the District Court would] therefore consider Goldstein's Opposition to the Motion to Vacate and decide that Motion on the merits." (XI JA 2369). And, the District Court's Order is wholly consistent with this Court's long recognized and "basic underlying policy to have each case decided upon its merits." Hotel Last Frontier Corp. v. Frontier Props., Inc., 79 Nev. 150 155, 380 P.2d 293, 295 (1963).

In sum, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to strike Goldstein's Opposition to NuVeda's Motion to Vacate, and was well within its discretion in considering the same.

3. The District Court Acted Within its Discretion in Granting Goldstein's Motion to Extend

NuVeda next argues that the Motion to Extend should have been denied because Goldstein initially moved the District Court pursuant to EDCR 2.22(d) instead of EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6(b). AOB at 10-14. Specifically, NuVeda argues that (1) Goldstein's Motion to Extend did not cite the proper authorities necessary to support an extension of time, and (2) Goldstein did not establish that her failure to timely oppose the Motion to Vacate was the result of excusable neglect pursuant to EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6(b). *Id.* at 12-14. Each of NuVeda's arguments will be addressed in turn.

a. NuVeda has Failed to Cogently Argue its Position

At the outset, Goldstein again notes that, as with its argument regarding the District Court's decision to consider the Opposition to the Motion to Vacate, NuVeda cites next to no authority in support of its position. Indeed, the complete list of NuVeda's authorities are as follows: EDCR 2.22; EDCR 2.25; NRCP 6; and *Moseley v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 124 Nev. 654, 188 P.3d 1136 (2008), for the proposition that "the concept of 'excusable neglect' applies to instances where some external factor beyond a party's control affect the party's ability to act or respond as required." AOB at 10-14. Moreover, NuVeda makes no mention of the fact that Goldstein cited to EDCR 2.25, NRCP 6, and numerous authorities regarding the "excusable neglect" standard in her Reply in support of her Motion to Extend. *See*

id. "In this way, [NuVeda] neglected [its] responsibility to cogently argue, and present relevant authority, in support of [its] appellate concerns. Thus, [this Court] need not consider these claims." *Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest.*, 122 Nev. 317, 330, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 (2006).

b. Goldstein Cited the Proper Authorities to Support Extension

Goldstein moved the District Court, pursuant to EDCR 2.22, to continue the hearing on NuVeda's Motion to Vacate, and grant an enlargement of time to prepare a responsive filing to the same. (VII JA 1468). Specifically, Goldstein explained that "Goldstein ha[d] engaged new counsel to oppose the [Motion to Vacate], and counsel [was] in the process of obtaining the file from Goldstein's former counsel so they [could] review it in order to prepare Goldstein's opposition." (VII JA 1469). Goldstein further explained that she had "discussed with opposing counsel the possibility of a mutual agreement and stipulation to continue the hearing date and extend the deadline for a responsive filing [but] an agreement could not be reached, thus necessitating the filing of the [Motion to Extend]." (Id.)

In its Opposition, NuVeda levied the identical arguments that it now raises on appeal. In fact, Sections IV(C)-(D) of NuVeda's Opening Brief contain almost a word-for-word repurposing of Sections III(A)-(B) of NuVeda's Opposition to Goldstein's Motion to Extend. *Compare* AOB at 10-14 *with* VII JA 1488-91.

What NuVeda fails to address before this Court is that Goldstein filed her Reply in support of her Motion to Extend, wherein she explained that the Motion to Extend should be granted pursuant to the excusable neglect standards contained within EDCR 2.25(a) and NRCP 6(b). (VII JA 1514-19). Thus, NuVeda's argument that Goldstein relied exclusively on EDCR 2.22 in support of her Motion to Extend is flatly belied by the record, and is a blatant misrepresentation of the factual and procedural history of the proceedings below.

Moreover, although Goldstein cited to EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6(b), and the excusable neglect standards therein in her Reply brief, the District Court was well within its discretion in considering Goldstein's argument, given the legal arguments made in NuVeda's Opposition. See GemCap Lending I, LLC v. Mann, No. CV 19-2499 PSG (RAOx), 2019 WL 7945597, *5-6 (C.D.Cal. Oct. 30, 2019) ("the Ninth Circuit has recognized that a moving party is permitted to rebut arguments raised in an opposition brief by, for instance, providing a fuller context of surrounding facts"); see also Samson v. Nama Holdings, LLC, No. CV 09-01433 MMM (PJWx), 2009 WL 10674355, at *3, n. 4 (C.D. Cal. May 13, 2009) ("[w]here, as here, the nonmoving party raises new issues in its opposition, ... the reply provides the moving party sufficient opportunity to respond to any new issues raised by the non-moving party"); United States v. Taibi, No. 10-CV-2250 JLS, 2012 WL 553143, *4 (S.D.Cal. Feb.21, 2012) ("[B]ecause the [] documents respond directly to

Defendant's allegations made in his opposition brief, the Court finds it may properly consider this rebuttal evidence even though it was offered for the first time in Plaintiff's reply brief," citing *EEOC v. Creative Networks, LLC and Res—Care, Inc.*, No. CV–05–3032–PHX–SMM, 2008 WL 5225807, *2 (D.Ariz. Dec.15, 2008) (reviewing the rule that a party may not provide "new" evidence in reply and deprive the opposing party of an opportunity to respond, but denying a motion to strike because the challenged evidence was not "new," as it properly rebutted arguments raised in opposition to a motion for summary judgment)). ¹

Based on the foregoing, NuVeda's assertion that Goldstein relied solely on EDCR 2.22 in support of her Motion to Extend is not supported by the record below. And, the District Court was well within its discretion when it considered the

Other courts that have considered this issue are in accord. See Aguirre v. Munk, No. C 09–763 MHP, 2011 WL 2149087, *13 (N.D.Cal. June 1, 2011) ("There was no new evidence in defendants' reply. Any shift in focus between the motion and the reply was responsive to Aguirre's arguments and 'evidence' in opposition that were different from the allegations in the amended complaint"); QBAS Co., Ltd. v. C Walters Intercoastal Corp., No. SACV 10–406 AG, 2010 WL 7785995, *3–4 (C.D.Cal. Dec. 16, 2010) ("Defendants argue that new evidence submitted for the first time with a Reply brief should not considered. This issue arises frequently, and it's sometimes tricky to distinguish between impermissible 'new' evidence in a reply and evidence that is permissibly responsive to an argument made in the opposing party's opposition. In this case, the issue is not so tricky. Plaintiffs' evidence . . . submitted with their Reply is clearly permissible evidence responsive to Defendants' . . . arguments. Thus, the . . . objections are OVERRULED"); Bell v. Santa Ana City Jail, No. SA CV 07–1218–ODW, 2010 WL 582543, *1 n. 3 (C.D.Cal. Feb.16, 2010) ("The Court concurs with defendant that the evidence adduced in her Reply raises no new issues and consists solely of a response to the arguments that plaintiff first raised in his Opposition").

arguments Goldstein made in her Reply in rebuttal to NuVeda's arguments in its Opposition.

c. Goldstein Established Excusable Neglect

As it did in the proceedings below, NuVeda argues that Goldstein failed to establish excusable neglect pursuant to NRCP 6(b) and EDCR 2.25. Specifically, NuVeda argues that because "there were no external factors beyond Goldstein's control affecting her ability to act or respond" to the Motion to Vacate, the District Court should have denied the Motion to Extend. (AOB at 14.) However, NuVeda again fails to discuss, or even cite to, each of the factors that this Court considers in determining whether a party has demonstrated excusable neglect pursuant to EDCR 2.25 and NRCP 6(b). Contrary to NuVeda's position below, and on appeal, Goldstein established excusable neglect, and the District Court did not abuse its discretion in granting Goldstein's Motion to Extend.

i. Legal Standard

The Eighth Judicial District Court Rules "must be liberally construed . . . to promote and facilitate the administration of justice." EDCR 1.10. This Court has also long recognized "the basic underlying policy to have each case decided upon its merits." *Hotel Last Frontier Corp. v. Frontier Props., Inc.*, 79 Nev. 150, 155, 380 P.2d 293, 295 (1963).

Pursuant to NRCP 6(b)(1)(B): "When an act may or must be done within a specified time . . . the court may, for good cause, extend the time . . . with or without motion or notice if the court acts, or if a request is made, before the original time or its extension expires; or . . . on motion made after the time has expired if the party failed to act because of excusable neglect." Similarly, EDCR 2.25(a) provides, in part: "Every motion or stipulation to extend time shall inform the court of any previous extensions granted and state the reasons for the extension requested. A request for extension made after the expiration of the specified period shall not be granted unless the moving party, attorney or other person demonstrates that the failure to act was the result of excusable neglect."

This Court has established that, where a party seeks to show excusable neglect under NRCP 6(b), that party "is required to demonstrate that (1) it acted in good faith, (2) it exercised due diligence, (3) there is a reasonable basis for not complying within the specified time, and (4) the nonmoving party will not suffer prejudice." *Moseley v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. Cty. of Clark*, 124 Nev. 654, 668, 188 P.3d 1136, 1146 (2008).

Finally, "[w]hether extending time is appropriate based on excusable neglect is a factual inquiry that the district court must undertake." *In re Estate of Black*, 132 Nev. 73, 78, 367 P.3d 416, 419 (2016). And, a district court's decision to enlarge

time under NRCP 6(b) and EDCR 2.25 is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See* id.

ii. Goldstein Acted in Good Faith

In the proceedings below, Goldstein argued that she had established good faith pursuant to this Court's definition in *Stoecklein v. Johnson Elec.*, *Inc.*, 109 Nev. 268, 271, 849 P.2d 305, 307 (1993), which defined good faith in the context of a motion to set aside judgment pursuant to NRCP 60(b). (VII JA 1515). There, this Court stated that "[g]ood faith is an intangible and abstract quality with no technical meaning or definition and encompasses, among other things, an honest belief, the absence of malice, and the absence of design to defraud." *Stoecklein*, 109 Nev. at 273, 849 P.2d at 309. "In common usage the term is used to describe a state of mind denoting honesty of purpose and freedom from intent to defraud." *Id*.

In support of her position, Goldstein argued that she acted in good faith because, as soon as she retained new counsel after NuVeda filed its Motion to Vacate, new counsel immediately reached out to opposing counsel to discuss a continuance of the hearing on the Motion to Vacate and an of the briefing deadlines. (VII JA 1515). Moreover, Goldstein explained that the subsequent correspondence between her and NuVeda's respective counsel showed that Goldstein was of the belief that the parties were in the process of negotiating a stipulated continuance of the hearing and an extension of the briefing deadlines. (*Id.*) Thus, Goldstein argued

that she had shown "an honest belief, the absence of malice, and the absence of design to defraud" under *Stoecklein*. (*Id.*) In its Order granting Goldstein's Motion to Extend, the District Court made findings consistent with Goldstein's argument. (XI JA 2369).

On appeal, NuVeda does not address the good faith factor in determining whether excusable neglect has been established. Instead, NuVeda merely parrots the procedural history leading up to Goldstein filing her Reply in support of her Motion to Extend, asserts that "there were no external factors beyond Goldstein's control affecting her ability to act or respond" and states, in conclusory fashion, that "Goldstein's Motion to Extend should have been denied." (AOB at 14).

Notwithstanding NuVeda's failure to address the issue, Goldstein's position below that she had acted in good faith is well grounded in federal caselaw. See, e.g., Los Altos El Granada Inv'rs v. City of Capitola, 583 F.3d 674, 683 (9th Cir. 2009) ("We cannot conclude that the district court abused its discretion in determining that counsel's neglect was in good faith and excusable. . . . [W]hatever the precise contours of counsel's failure to calendar the appeal, there is nothing to intimate that the failure was not one of mere oversight. Also, although counsel's failure to

² This Court looks to federal caselaw interpreting Fed. R. Civ. P. 6(b) when interpreting NRCP 6(b). *Moseley*, 124 Nev. at 665, 188 P.3d at 1144 ("[W]e turn to federal caselaw dealing with excusable neglect to consider our guidelines for NRCP 6.")

calendar the appeal was based in part on a mistake within his control, we will defer to the district court's determination that such conduct was excusable."); *Pincay v. Andrews*, 389 F.3d 853, 860 (9th Cir. 2004) (excusable neglect found where counsel delegated calendar duties to the paralegal, and the paralegal misunderstood the deadlines in the federal rule) *Bonavito v. Nevada Prop. 1 LLC*, No. 2:13-CV-00417-JAD, 2014 WL 5364077, at *2 (D. Nev. Oct. 21, 2014) ("[A]pproximately four days after the reply deadline, Plaintiff filed a motion for leave to file an untimely reply. Plaintiff acknowledges the reply was untimely, but asserts that it was the result of a calendar error and is excusable neglect. The Court agrees."); *Ruiz v. Carmeuse Lime, Inc.*, No. 2:10–CV21–PRC, 2011 WL 3290376, at * 1 (N.D. Ind. July 14, 2011) (finding excusable neglect for missing a response deadline due to an inadvertent calendaring error).

Based on the foregoing, Goldstein established below that she acted in good faith, and the District Court did not abuse its discretion in determining that she had established excusable neglect.

iii. Goldstein was Diligent in Filing her Motion to Extend

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